The Canadian Dream: International Students and Cruel Optimism

by Zed Chia

B.A., University of British Columbia, 2017

Project Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Education

in the
Educational Leadership Program
Faculty of Education

© Zed Chia 2024 SIMON FRASER UNIVERSITY Summer 2024

Copyright in this work is held by the author. Please ensure that any reproduction or re-use is done in accordance with the relevant national copyright legislation.

Declaration of Committee

Name:	Zed Chia
Degree:	Master of Education
Title:	The Canadian Dream: International Students and Cruel Optimism

Committee: Chair: Meaghan Dougherty
Adjunct Professor, Education

Rebecca Cox

Supervisor Associate Professor, Education

Dan LaitschCommittee Member
Professor, Education

Michelle Pidgeon

Examiner

Professor, Education

Ethics Statement

The author, whose name appears on the title page of this work, has obtained, for the research described in this work, either:

a. human research ethics approval from the Simon Fraser University Office of Research Ethics

or

b. advance approval of the animal care protocol from the University Animal Care Committee of Simon Fraser University

or has conducted the research

c. as a co-investigator, collaborator, or research assistant in a research project approved in advance.

A copy of the approval letter has been filed with the Theses Office of the University Library at the time of submission of this thesis or project.

The original application for approval and letter of approval are filed with the relevant offices. Inquiries may be directed to those authorities.

Simon Fraser University Library Burnaby, British Columbia, Canada

Update Spring 2016

Abstract

Canada is a top destination for international students globally. Research on obtaining an undergraduate degree and its influence on future employment and fulfillment post-graduation often focus on current international students. I explored the less researched experience of international students who have chosen to remain in Canada post-graduation. Qualitative analysis of semi-structured interviews from three participants provided insights into the challenges they faced and how their perception of the "Canadian Dream" has changed. This research could be beneficial for post-secondary administrators as well as prospective, current and prior international students in Canada.

Keywords: International students; international student experience; goals; cruel optimism; post-graduation; Canadian dream

Dedication

I dedicate this to all prospective, current, and past international students of Canada. May you all one day fulfill your version of the Canadian Dream.

Table of Contents

Declaration of Committee	ii
Ethics Statement	iii
Abstract	iv
Dedication	v
Table of Contents	vi
Introduction	1
Literature Review	5
The Research Questions	12
Methodology	13
Researcher Role/Positionality	
Research Participants	14
Data Collection	
Data Analysis	16
Trustworthiness	19
Limitations	20
Findings	22
The Canadian Dream of Parents	25
Not Quite the Dream?	27
Discrimination	27
The Connectedness between International Students	30
Remaining Optimistic towards the Dream	
Parental Expectations During University	
Post-graduation	34
Conclusion	36
References	39
Appendix A. Recruitment Participant Email	43
Appendix R Interview Questions	45

Introduction

For me, being able to come to Canada as an international student was a privilege. Being able to remain post-graduation and pursue a career in post-secondary was a dream. The decision to attend university was a non-negotiable expectation set by my parents. They constantly reminded me of the value of education and how an undergraduate degree was the key to a better future. Canada was always my dream destination, as I remember fond memories from my childhood, visiting my grandparents who resided here. Taking in the beautiful scenery and fresh air-a very stark contrast to the heavily populated and polluted Asian cities I grew up in, such as Hong Kong, Shanghai and Singapore. When I did arrive, ready to begin my undergraduate university experience at the University of British Columbia, I vividly remember stepping out of the airport in Vancouver, filled with optimism and anticipation for educational experience ahead. That all came to a screeching halt as I concluded my first term, when I failed a course required for my intended program. The transition into university left me confused and scared at the possibility of having to withdraw from university and leave Canada. Having lived in globalized international cities and going through various educational curriculums such as the British International General Certificate of Secondary Education and International Baccalaureate in English, I thought the transition into university would be manageable. Once admitted, I realized even among other international students, each of our circumstances varied greatly and there can be many barriers that are not easily overcome. With the limited time I had to improve my grades, I had to face the reality of having lost thousands of dollars in tuition to remain focused. In addition, I struggled adjusting to the new style of learning and teaching which really hindered my ability to succeed academically despite my efforts to do so. As I got closer to graduation, the thoughts of gaining job experience and post-graduation life became prominent. One day, I was sitting in my "sociology of the workplace" class, and I will always remember the discussion on workplace discrimination, and how anglicized or shortened names may lead to more job opportunities. After weeks of unsuccessful job applications, I decided to shorten my legal name and started to get responses. It was only much later as I began my professional life;

did I begin to question the ethicality of that practice and how discrimination is not limited to the workplace.

As I began to reflect on my journey so far, the experiences and challenges were difficult to put into words, and it soon became just part of the "normal international student experience." As I began to look at it through the lens of my personal and professional background, it is slowly beginning to make sense, though there is still so much to learn. It is like a cluster of successes, challenges, dreams and goals that were all seemingly muted in the background as I pursued my long-term goal of graduating and working towards a better future. I believe that the value of a university degree is in the experiences and opportunities that hopefully build towards a better future. Postgraduation, I chose to remain and work in Canada and the entirety of my career has been within post-secondary education. All my roles have been among various student-focused capacities, where my goal is to work with students through their successes and challenges towards degree completion. I have witnessed the number of resources invested in attracting international students, including scholarships, guaranteed on-campus residences, being part of a global community, and numerous resources and supports available. In comparison, there are significantly fewer resources invested in the transition for students' post-graduation. The extent of resources usually consists of welcoming them into an alumni community, job search workshops and governmental application workshops.

Working in post-secondary institutions has allowed me to gain insights into different aspects of university administration and the student life cycle through undergraduate studies. From working at a smaller college, to a university with one of the largest international student populations in Canada, I believe that every student experience is unique. Universities are continuously increasing the amount and depth of resources they provide to better the student experience. Student life challenges such as counselling, academic/career planning, adjusting to life in Canada, accessibility needs and building a sense of community are all answered for. Having worked in various student-centric roles within post-secondary, I share a special connectedness with international students. Working within a university, administrators and staff across

different departments will often be able to provide an answer for questions asked by international students. Such as, a question around residences on campus, would be directed to the campus Housing services. Though without directly following up with these students, the extent to how satisfied these students were with the answers they received remains unknown. The lack of research and supports in place is particularly true for international students' post-graduation life. Once they graduate, it is significantly more difficult to stay in contact due to the unpredictability of the future and for international students, the added unknown of whether they decide to remain in Canada. Better understanding the experiences of international students, especially those who remain in Canada after graduation will benefit future international students and better prepare them for post-graduation in Canada.

For many students living around the world, being able to attend university in Canada as an international student is a dream come true, just as it was for me. The decision to pursue this dream comes with high costs, sacrifices and numerous barriers to overcome. According to Merriam-Webster (n.d.), a dream is defined as thoughts, goals, aspirations or anything that occurs in our minds during sleep. An individual who has a dream, will eventually wake up and what was dreamt often remains as just that, a dream and not reality. The international student journey towards obtaining an undergraduate degree, gaining employment and working towards a better future in Canada is such a large task that it can seem unattainable – just like a dream.

According to Laberge (2013, p. 397), "the American Dream is the belief that anybody has the chance to succeed in the United States, no matter what his or her background is." Based on this concept of the American Dream¹, I draw on the similarities to how international students from diverse backgrounds pursue an undergraduate degree in Canada. These students are working towards their version of a "Canadian Dream" which is the dream that an undergraduate degree in Canada can lead towards a better future in Canada post-graduation.

-

¹ Coined in a best-selling book in 1931 titled "Epic of America", by James Truslow Adams, who was an American writer and historian (Adams, 2017).

It is not just international students who have this dream. Their parents are often the very ones who help make the decision due to the large financial requirement. For many parents of international students, including my own, the hope is that there are increased opportunities to build a better future compared to if they remained in their home country.

I will always be grateful for being able to attend university as an international student. For every international student here, there are many others who were not afforded the same privilege. All this comes with significant amounts of expectations and pressures to one day achieve the "Canadian Dream." As Da Silva and Ravindran (2016) pointed out, the combination of Canadian qualifications, such as a university degree and work experience often lead to a significant proportion of international students settling down in Canada after their studies. Da Silva and Ravindran (2016) highlighted the positive educational, career and immigration expectations, as well as a desire for new experiences, as major reasons cited by international students for choosing to study in Canada.

Before describing my own research inquiry, I review the existing research to provide a better understanding of the topic and landscape within Canada. I begin by providing a historical timeline of international student policies since the 1970s, then discuss the present-day challenges and policy changes affecting current international students and post-secondary institutions. Next, I shift the focus towards the international student perspective, the challenges they face and the dreams they have towards building a better future by pursuing a post-secondary education here in Canada. The gaps in this literature set the stage for my own research project, where I conducted semi-qualitative interviews with participants who remained in Canada post-graduation. I then analyzed the gathered data and identified themes to better represent my findings followed by concluding my research project.

Literature Review

The Canadian government's perspective on international students has gone through significant changes over the past few decades, from widespread recruitment of international students, to placing a limit on the number of international students coming to Canada. This shift in international policy reveals the change in perspective and the complex motivations across all the parties involved from various levels of government, institutions and the students themselves.

To better understand this shift, I briefly highlight key developments that McCartney (2021) identified in his historical review of international student policy in Canada over the past few decades. McCartney's (2021) historical review draws on archival sources from public post-secondary institutions across Canada, government policies at both the provincial and federal level as well as other scholarly research from the *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*. From this review, McCartney (2021) identified four distinct eras in international student policymaking, all of which have shaped current practices and discussions around international students in Canada.

According to McCartney (2021), in the 1970s, international students consisted of about 5% of all students within Canadian post-secondary institutions, which would explain the lack of discussion around international students, both in terms of governmental policies and scholarly discussions. One of the first key policies introduced was for international students to pay higher tuition and fees compared to domestic students. This set the stage for an era distinguished by viewing international students as financial revenue. At the same time, international students were not allowed to seek employment due to government restrictions. International students were considered visitors to Canada for the sole purpose of studying and were required to leave after the completion of their studies.

During the years of 1985 to 2001, McCartney (2021) notes, across Canada, international students became highly sought after by post-secondary institutions as they began to recognize how the increased tuition and fees could benefit all students and help

fund university operation costs (McCartney, 2021). Interestingly, with the growing discussions around international students, scholarly interest examining the effects of such policies increased as well. According to McCartney (2021), during this period, even though the institutional pressures to increase international recruitment efforts may be financially motivated, there was also discussion around the value these international students would bring to campus. As society became more globalized and students around the world were offered more opportunities to study abroad, both the Canadian government and post-secondary institutions alike adapted to best capitalize on the situation. For example, in British Columbia, the University of British Columbia (UBC) launched the International Student Initiative (ISI) department, with the initial goal of increasing the international student population by over four times in size.

In the era he terms "International Education as a Vital Canadian Export Industry" McCartney (2021) identifies another key policy development between the Canadian government and post-secondary institutions. In 2001, international students now had the possibility of remaining in Canada post-graduation for employment and an eventual path to citizenship (McCartney, 2021). This marked a significant shift in how the Canadian government began to see international students as not just an immediate short-term benefit for the economy but increasingly saw how these university educated, and highly skilled students fit a new category of an ideal immigrant and the long-term benefits of them remaining post-graduation (Brunner, 2017). This possibility of permanent residency post-graduation soon became a prominent benefit to pursuing a post-secondary degree in Canada and further attracted international students from all around the world. More than half of the international students who decided to come to Canada, intended to immigrate, with more than two-thirds aspiring towards work opportunities in Canada post-graduation (Stein, 2018). International students who studied at an eligible designated institution for four years, would be granted a Post-Graduation Work Permit (PGWP) upon graduation if they decided to remain in Canada to work. The number of PGWP holders grew more than 13 times in size, from 10,300 in 2008 to 135,100 in 2018. Almost three-quarters of all PGWP holders became Permanent Residents (PR) within five years of obtaining their PGWP (Crossman et al., 2022).

In 2014, the Canadian government invested heavily in international education, launching the country's first-ever *International Education Strategy* as a blueprint to attract talent to Canada and prepare it for the 21st century (Scott et al., 2015). As the Canadian government realized that international education can be directly linked to the long-term domestic economy. Recently graduated international students were viewed as ideal candidates to pursue skilled employment and permanent residency within the domestic workforce (Scott et al., 2015). This strategy involved the Canadian government working with provinces, territories, Canadian educational institutions, and other stakeholders. As documented by the ICEF Monitor (2019), in 2011, there were 239,131 international students in Canada and by 2017, there was a total of 494,525 international students, which showcases the significant increase.

Today, obtaining an undergraduate degree at a Canadian university is becoming increasingly common. The university student population at Simon Fraser University is the largest and most diverse it has ever been. The number of international student population in Canada has increased considerably by 185% from 2010 to 2019, amounting to 642,480 in total (Baghoori et al., 2022). This increase in population alongside the growing list of global issues, such as social, political, economic, or environmental further complicates an already complex student population within universities. According to Guo (2017), in 2012, international students spent an estimated \$8.4 billion, which generated over \$455 million in government tax revenues. This reaffirms the significant financial contributions international students bring to both Canada and post-secondary institutions.

Given the significant changes regarding international student policies as outlined by McCartney's (2021) historical review as well as more recent policies such as the *International Education Strategy* as outlined in Scott et. al.'s (2015) study, it is evident that the international student growth within Canada has been much greater than anticipated. This rapid growth has placed pressures on many other aspects of Canadian society. Therefore, the Canadian federal government's announcement in 2024 to place a limit on the amount of international student permits may not be come as a surprise for many. The significant increase of international students in Canada has been deemed unsustainable by the Canadian federal government, having acknowledged the pressures

placed on essential aspects of society that impact Canada as a whole, such as housing, health care and other services. Compared to 2023, this new policy in effect as of 2024 January, is estimated to result in a 35% decrease in approved study permits from the government (IRCC Government of Canada, 2024). The immediate short-term effects such as a decrease of overall spending and revenue contributed by international students should not be understated. However, it is the long-term effects that are difficult to predict.

To provide a brief context on this new policy, the federal government now requires an additional government-issued documentation before an international student can begin their journey at a Canadian institution. This additional document is known as a Provincial Attestation Letter (PAL), which the federal government determines how many each province can receive. This additional step provides yet another administrative and governmental barrier for international students hoping to pursue a Canadian post-secondary education and may very likely cause Canada to lose part of the allure it previously had over other countries in terms of the immigration expectations mentioned earlier (Graeme, 2024). This renewed spotlight on international students has brought about uncertainty in the future of international student policies in Canada, and many of the circumstances that may arise remain relatively unknown.

To begin to better understand the international student perspective, Chirkov et al. (2008)'s study explored the role of self-determined motivation, and the goals international students have for studying abroad. By surveying international students, they found that often the motivations to study abroad would come from avoiding conditions in their home country and to improve future career opportunities through better education. As international students, their primary support structures, such as family and friends are often not easily accessible, and the importance of self-determined motivation begins to become apparent. When international students decide to move to a foreign country to study based on self-motivation, the chance of succeeding is higher compared to those who were force/controlled to make the decision to study abroad (Chirkov et al. 2008). One's motivation can also have different factors that may either encourage or hinder their personal/professional growth. As students who strive to get a better education and expand their career opportunities tend to be more motivated to do so, as compared to those who

are less motivated which will hinder their own growth. Cultural environment and parental influence on various aspects of their lives also tend to be important factors as students who are more educated about the host countries culture, will tend to be more open to accepting the new culture and better adjust into the various aspects of student life.

Transitioning into university is an arduous journey for many students, filled with challenges and adjustments. For international students, there is an added layer of complexity such as, cross-cultural adaption (Scott et al., 2015). Research relating to international students transitioning into a new country, environment and society often mentions factors that affect that transition, such as language ability, the degree of international students' identification with the host countries culture and their extent of intercultural exposure. In Robertson et al.'s (2000) study of international students, learning environments and perceptions, the researchers found that many professors still believe that English language proficiency was a primary challenge faced by international students, followed by cultural differences, unfamiliarity with host country educational systems, and modes of instruction.

As the world becomes more globalized, international schools around the world have increasingly adopted Western curriculums taught in English, such as, International Baccalaureate, Advanced Placement, A-Levels and General Certificate of Secondary Education. International students who have gone through these programs begin university with a more proficient level of English compared to students who are just beginning to learn English as a second language closer to when they decide to study abroad. Recent studies have noted that English language proficiency is no longer the main challenge faced by international students in Canada, instead, financial support, career services, academic advising, and campus-life activities were listed as top concerns (Martirosyan et al., 2019).

To provide some perspective on the financial strain faced by international students at Simon Fraser University, in 2016, according to Simon Fraser University (2024) tuition for international students was \$1005.71 per unit. Today, international student tuition is \$1,167.61 per unit, which amounts to at least \$140,113 in just tuition for

an undergraduate degree. When compared to domestic student tuition, which is \$212.04 per unit, and \$25,444 for an undergraduate degree, we can see that international student tuition today is over five times more than domestic tuition. This significant difference in tuition fees further emphasizes the importance of recruiting international students as a source of financial benefit for both Canada and post-secondary institutions.

Studies specifically focusing on international students have shown that there is an added layer of complexity, such as cultural values and beliefs that causes them to be more hesitant to seek out mental health resources. According to Da Silva and Ravindran (2016), compared to domestic students, international students are not only more likely to experience psychological distress but also less likely to seek help due to factors such as stigma and denial due to cultural influences. Though as Da Silva and Ravindran (2016) highlights, certain ethnic groups can be more at risk, which further emphasizes the diversity within international students and how some may be more likely to seek help depending on their cultural and parental influences. An interesting example is that of American students at a Canadian university, which problematizes the binary classification into administrative categories – domestic and international, which have different fee structures and specialized services and resources as well (Kenyon et al., 2012). This clear separation between domestic and international students, despite being administratively, can potentially lead to growing neglect surrounding the diversity among international students. For example, for an international student who is fluent in English and is well-adjusted to a Westernized educational curriculum compared to one who is learning English as a second language and unfamiliar with the curriculum here. All this adds to the increased difficulty of university administrators providing tailored and personalized support for these students.

As international students continually pursue their version of the "Canadian Dream," they face a pivotal crossroad as they prepare to graduate and must decide whether to remain in Canada or not. By implementing policies such as the Post-Graduate Work Permit, the Canadian government sees international students who have graduated from a post-secondary in Canada as the ideal immigrant. This forms an assumption that these international student graduates would be more culturally aligned and well-

positioned to transition into the local workforce post-graduation. As compared to an individual who enters Canada from another country solely for the purpose of work, and did not graduate from an undergraduate degree at a Canadian post-secondary institution.

According to Nunes & Arthur's (2013) study, many international students struggle to obtain employment in Canada post-graduation. Despite this challenge, the participants in this study, who were all within one year of graduating, maintained the dream that Canada was able to provide a better future for them. I briefly highlight key recommendations identified by Nunes & Arthur's (2013) study, based on data gathered from their participants. These recommendations may be helpful for future international students and those who work within post-secondary institutions. The hope is for Canadian employers to recognize the value of candidates who have an international experience and to not discriminate based on their international status, perceived poor English proficiency and different cultural backgrounds. Additionally, for international students who are hoping to remain in Canada post-graduation, the importance of beginning preparations to increase employability sooner rather than later. Examples such as being aware of work environment/culture, building networks within local industries and engaging with various resources and services during university.

For researchers such as Arthur & Flynn (2011), who focused on international students completing their studies and transitioning into employment and permanent residency in Canada, the participants in the study were all current students from various levels, ranging between undergraduate, master's and doctoral. This may reflect the difficulty in finding recently graduated participants who have entered the workforce in Canada, and further reinforces the need to contribute to literature in this area. For many international students, the decision to remain in Canada post-graduation is often influenced in part by their parents, indicating the importance of maintaining such relationships (Arthur & Flynn, 2011). The amount of financial investment made by parents for these international students to be afforded this opportunity, which in turn, causes them to attribute more value to their parents' thoughts on their future.

International students choosing to remain in Canada post-graduation has continually increased, as government policies has allowed for that possibility. Most research on international students in Canada, is often based on current students. There is significantly less research on those who may be conflicted as to whether their decision to pursue the "Canadian Dream" was worth it. Cruel optimism is the condition of maintaining an attachment to a significantly problematic object (Berlant, 2011). In this case, the object that international students may form an attachment to is their "Canadian Dream." As they progress through their undergraduate degree, they may realize they have different interests in mind. Though because of this attachment, it may become detrimental to their physical and/or mental well-being. I draw upon parts of this concept as it relates to how international students are pursuing the "Canadian Dream" in the sense of attaching optimism to a university degree from Canada and the promises of a better future having attained it. Decades ago, international students would have had to return to their home countries post-graduation, but that is no longer the case today as many choose to remain in Canada. There is limited research on those who choose to remain, as this is a relatively new development. By contributing to this area of research, there are potential benefits for post-secondary institutions and international students in Canada.

The Research Questions

The research questions guiding this research were: How do international students who have recently graduated from Simon Fraser University reflect on their undergraduate experience? Building upon the previous question, my second question was: How has their experiences prepared them to transition into post-graduation in Canada?

Methodology

Through qualitative research, I aimed to better understand how the meaning international students ascribe to their experiences built towards their overall goals. Creswell's (2018) constructivist or social constructivism worldview as a perspective closely aligns with my qualitative research approach. I relied on my participants' views of the situation and seek to better understand the world in which I live and work in.

Researcher Role/Positionality

As a researcher and a former international student who progressed through the commonly trekked pathway towards long-term residence in Canada, this topic is one that resonates across various aspects of my life. My positionality and personal connection further reinforced the empathy I feel towards the challenges and barriers faced by international students. I previously worked at Simon Fraser University (SFU) and worked with international students in various capacities and formed professional working relationships. While interviewing my participants, I had to be aware of my own bias and limit information of my personal experiences as an international student to not influence my data collection or interpretation of a question. This is to ensure the accuracy and trustworthiness of data gathered. This reflects the social constructivist worldview Creswell (2018) mentions, as having reflexivity as a researcher is to recognize my own background and experiences and how they shape my thinking. During and after the interview, I noted down my ideas, to allow myself to later reflect on my notes and whether my personal experiences may shape my interpretation of the data. During the interview, I utilized open-ended questions, to allow the participant to share their personal experiences. As part of the holistic nature of my research, I encouraged my participants to explore various topics outside of my immediate scope of research, as it allowed me to better understand the complexity of the topic and their personal experience.

Research Participants

Simon Fraser University (SFU) is one of the largest universities located in British Columbia, Canada and has one of the most diverse international student populations, with 8290 international students from 133 countries in the 2023 calendar year (Simon Fraser University, 2024). It is evident that significant resources are invested into retaining these students. For example, an entire "International Student Advising and Programs" team within Student Services provides resources and advice on the international student experience as well as guidance on immigration and transition related issues. There are also funds and scholarships available for international students to help lessen the financial strain.

My inclusion criteria for participants in this research project were as follows: participants need to be an international student who graduated from SFU in the past five years and remained in Canada after graduation. The intention of selecting participants who recently graduated was to provide the most up-to-date analysis on what international students are experiencing.

Post-graduation, when these students attempt to enter the workforce, employers can recognize their status as being on a temporary work permit, as one criterion to receiving a post-graduate work permit from the government is to have previously been an international student. It is important to begin to understand the complexity of such a label, and that even though they may seem to neatly fit into all the prescribed themes and subthemes I am going to mention, it is not possible to quantify it all.

Using publicly available information, such as, networking platforms (LinkedIn), online websites via a Google search that displayed contact information, I reached out to international students who I had previously had professional connections with and asked whether they knew individuals who had met my inclusion criteria and were interested in participating in my study. I decided to select three participants as they were of different backgrounds, and I felt would provide a small snapshot into my research topic.

All selected participants were assigned pseudonyms to ensure confidentiality. For my first participant, Bou, graduated about a year ago and is currently pursuing a master's degree and hopes to eventually pursue a job related to her field of studies. My second participant, Bon, graduated about a year ago and is currently working full-time with the hopes or applying for permanent residency soon. My final participant, Bam, graduated about two months ago and has been searching for a job, it has been a challenging period but remains hopeful of securing a job soon.

Data Collection

I engaged in a conversational style of interview, where I welcomed my participants to interpret my questions in their own way and allowed them to guide me to different areas/topics they wanted to explore. Due to the nature of my constructivist research methods, during the interview, participants could choose whether to fully answer, partially answer or entirely skip the question. I provided additional prompts to further understand the perspective of my participants. If the conversation deviated too far from my research relevancy, I steered the conversation back or suggested moving onto the next question.

I structured my interview questions (appendix B) with the intention of best capturing the journey an international student embarks on when they decide to study in Canada, which aligns with both of my research questions. The interview questions are grouped into three main sections, general questions, during university and after university. The general question section was to build an overall profile of each participant. During university captures the entirety of the participants university experience and after university to better understand their post-graduation goals and future aspirations. This structure would help better inform my eventual data analysis and findings as I began to build participant profiles and similar and different themes that were present. With these interview questions, I also engaged in peer review to ensure they were clear and concise.

I conducted semi-structured interviews based on the interview questions protocol (appendix B) where I intentionally included questions that were open-ended as according to Weiss (1994), for a researcher to be able to gather a fuller development of the information provided by participants, they will have to "sacrifice uniformity of questioning", which is what I aimed to achieve with open-ended questions as compared to for example, a multiple-choice question.

Participants chose their preferred location to have this interview, such as from their own home, which reduces any costs or stress associated with commuting to an interview location. To achieve this, all interviews were conducted online via Zoom as it is a readily available, convenient, and free. While these interviews took place via Zoom, they were audio recorded on Zoom as well as with a physical recorder to ensure that if there were technical difficulties, I would have a back-up of the recordings. With these recordings, I was able to transcribe them and replay them if necessary to ensure accuracy while analyzing the data for areas relevant to my research. In addition to the interviews being recorded, I also made brief notes of when the conversation veered off on a tangent, which were very helpful at the later stage of my data analysis. These notes were particularly helpful when I compared how different participants interpreted the same question differently and allowed me to draw connections to other areas that I was previously unaware of.

Data Analysis

My audio-recordings and automatically generated transcripts of all interviews were obtained from Zoom. Within 24 hours of each interview concluding, I re-listened to the audio-recordings and began the process of transcribing. I began transcribing by correcting the spelling and punctuation from the generated transcripts. I did this to ensure the accuracy of my data and for each sentence to not be misinterpreted. Next, I made notes on interesting points made by the participant, and possible themes were identified and could potentially become a point of discussion. At this point, my goal was to identify areas that would relate well to my research topic.

I approached the interview transcription as not a singular point of interpretation of my data, instead see it as being a tool used alongside my audio-recordings, which allowed me to begin to unpack the complexity of certain topics mentioned. By analyzing my data as a representational process, as the analysis of data represented as a transcript often entails reading the transcript in the presence of audio or video data, field notes, or other forms of head notes (Green, 1993). I analyzed the transcript in conjunction with the audio recordings to have more than one individual data point. By re-listening to the audio-recordings as I transcribed the transcripts, I was able to pick up on pauses in speech, shift in tone and other subtleties that can add depth to my data analysis for the purposes of gaining further insights into my participant's responses and thoughts. I also noticed similarities and differences between my transcripts by reviewing my previous notes made as well as highlighted sections.

I engaged in simultaneous procedures, where I began working on editing the transcriptions of each interview soon after. This ensured that with each interview, my insights and notes remained accurate by disallowing extended durations of time to pass or any possible influence of subsequent interviews to affect my data. The responses that I gathered were more complex than I had anticipated and did not all easily fit into distinct categories/themes and often belonged to more than one. Even though all my participants are unique and have their own backgrounds and lived experiences, they interpreted and responded to identical interview questions differently and I was able to explore areas I had not thought of previously.

After completing the transcription of all three interviews, I began the process of theme identification, which is an essential technique for analyzing textual data. Ryan (2003) notes the importance of discovering themes in qualitative data as without thematic categories, as researchers, it is not possible to describe, compare, or explain what is gathered from the data. I used various techniques to identify my themes. I began by organizing text segments based on the different colored highlights I had on my transcripts. While doing this, I also reviewed my notes and made additional notes on how each segment can further contribute to the themes I placed them under. For those that were mentioning another interesting idea/topic within the same theme, I created

subthemes to place them under. During my process of transcription and listening to the audio-recordings, I noted transitions in topics or shifts within conversations. By doing this, I attempted to identify possible emotions the participant may have towards the topic of conversation and made a note on whether it would be interesting point to re-visit at a later point of time. Lastly, I looked for similarities and differences between my three participants, by comparing different parts of my transcription and ensuring that my classifications of themes and subthemes were rationalized.

During my interviews, all my participants discussed their experience during the COVID-19 pandemic, even though this was not part of my interview questions. COVID-19, also known as Coronavirus 2019 is a contagious disease that began in 2019 and soon became a global pandemic. In 2020, Canada recorded its first case of the virus and the amount of uncertainty and unknown placed an immense amount of pressure on all companies, universities and every individual who would soon be affected. The pandemic restrictions were largely in place between 2020 – 2022, which meant that all my participants were at university during this period. Universities had to make tough decisions, as they navigated this for the first time and all my participants reflected on their experiences during this time. During my analysis, I decided that this collective experience would likely have lasting impacts and is worthy of discussion in my findings.

I built a narrative profile for each of my participants with the goal of honoring my participants' individual experiences. This aligns with my decision to pursue semi-structured interviews to give a voice to my participants, who may not represent every international student who remains in Canada post-graduation but provides a brief and small sample into how their experience may be applicable to many others in similar positions based on relatable experiences. Through each of these narrative profiles, I provide a summary of their journey so far and a snapshot at the value in continuing discussions around post-graduation transitions for international students. To build each of these profiles, I began by re-listening to the recorded audio of each interview and to really focus on their overall journey primarily based on three areas, prior to arriving in Canada, their time during university and their post-graduation experience. I chose to pay particular attention to factors such as their background, family/parental expectations and

lived environment prior to coming to Canada, which may contribute to the perspective of how an individual navigates through university and beyond.

I created three main themes that would best represent topics I will be discussing: the Canadian dream of parents, not quite the dream and remaining optimistic towards the dream. Within some of these themes, I created subthemes to further explore topics that could better describe my findings based on the data gathered from my research.

Trustworthiness

For increased trustworthiness, I ensured that I was aware of any potential bias I may bring to the study by being clear with all my participants about my positionality of previously being an international student and now working in a university setting. This is one of many validity procedures that Creswell (2018) mentions which should "enhance the researcher's ability to assess the accuracy of findings as well as convince readers of that accuracy" (p. 314). I allowed the conversations during the interview to be guided by the participant's responses and withheld any personal opinions or guided follow-up questions I may have had. I also kept a journal noting down the process and steps I have taken from the initial contact with my potential participants till the conclusion of the interview to be accountable for all the touchpoints I set out for myself and to continually check-in with my participants throughout the entire process and allowing for clarifications as needed.

I transcribed and re-listened to the recorded audio within 24 hours of each interview concluding. During this process, it was essential to correct any obvious transcription mistakes, while the interview was still relatively recent, I relied on the audio-recording to re-confirm my assumptions or recollection of words to ensure accuracy. I also engaged in member checking of transcripts among my peers, to gather feedback as to whether the transcription was accurate and easy to understand. One example of where the automatically generated transcript mislabelled acronyms used during a conversation was when the initial transcript stated "SMU", which I corrected to "SFU." I also scheduled all three interviews within the span of one weekend to provide a

more accurate and concise timeline for myself as a researcher when I began to identify themes, similarities, and differences among the three participant responses.

Limitations

During my study, I encountered unexpected limitations. For one of my participants, their video camera remained off throughout the entire interview, which may have impacted how I perceived certain responses due to the lack of visual cues or body language. This was unexpected, as I had assumed the participant would understand an online Zoom interview meant a conversation and as my video was on, the participant would naturally turn theirs on as well. In reviewing my recruitment messaging and follow ups with potential participants, beyond the mention of the interview location being on Zoom, I did not indicate preference on having the video camera turned on for both interviewer and participant, to best simulate an in-person conversation. Another limitation was when a question I asked was perceived entirely different from my expectations, so much that I deemed it not relevant to my research. This could have been minimized by having had pilot/test participants prior to the actual interviews, to see how my interview questions would be interpreted. Though a pilot test may also not have yielded a different response, due to the amount of interpretation from each participant based on the wide variance of their background and other factors involved to be an international student.

For some of my open-ended questions, I had prepared follow-up questions as an effort to either steer the conversation towards my research topic or further understand the participants interpretation and the topic they wanted to explore if it still aligned with my research. When I encountered these questions with participants, after attempting a few prompts, I moved onto the next question. This could have been a great opportunity to better understand how they have interpreted the question so differently and maybe a chance to better improve on my questions as well as follow up prompts.

Another potential limitation would be if I had included participants who were towards the other end of my inclusion criteria, having graduated five years ago, as most

of my participants graduated within the one-to-two-year range. This may have brought about different perspectives to my topics and provided a broader overview within my findings on post-graduation life in Canada.

All three of participants identified as Female, this was not intentional, though I do acknowledge that without the presence of other genders among my participants, this could possibly be a limitation for my research and findings. For future studies, I would intentionally include participants of various genders as a possible point of comparison and further analyze the data from that research to better conclude as to whether the gender of participants is relevant to the research topic of discussion.

Findings

All the participants in my study had enrolled at SFU as an international student, graduated within the past five years and chose to remain in Canada post-graduation. I defined an international student as one who does not have Canadian citizenship or permanent residency status and has likely come from another country for the purpose of pursuing an undergraduate degree. Reflecting on their time at SFU, all my participants indicated that overall, they had a positive experience. They all faced various challenges, some similar and others quite different from each other. Their perception of the Canadian Dream has also changed from when they first arrived in Canada. There is also an overall sense of optimism as my participants continue their post-graduation journey in Canada.

I begin with narrative profiles of all three of my participants from my study to showcase the uniqueness of everyone. Then, with these narrative profiles in mind, I discuss three key themes that I found while analyzing the interviews with participants: the Canadian dream of parents (parental influence and motivations to pursue studying abroad in Canada), not quite the dream (challenges faced, discrimination and the connectedness between international students) and remaining optimistic towards the dream (discussion of experiences during university and post-graduation).

Participant Profile 1: Bou

Bou described herself as having had quite an "international" upbringing. Bou had the opportunity to live in many different countries around the world, and had friends of diverse cultures, and backgrounds. Though for Bou, the answer to the question, "so, where are you from?" was not entirely straightforward and seemed to have been a complicated question as there wasn't an immediate answer, such as a specific country or city. With a perceptible shift in body language and tone, she explained that the answer differs depending on who asks the question. In this case, Bou listed Lebanon as home, but also identified two other locations that are possible answers based on her perception of the individual asking and whether she wanted to further explain her life story. Bou's parents' personal experiences solidified the perception that a "Western"

education/university degree is more valuable than one from the Middle East and leads directly to better opportunities post-graduation. Having been through educational systems that were set up with the primary purpose of pursuing further education after high school, such as post-secondary and universities, it was the norm to attend university as an international student as well, as many of my classmates and their parents had similar expectations. For Bou, she noted that her overall experience was good and that she did manage to pursue various opportunities and explore her interests. Though, she also mentioned that it took her almost two years to begin to explore these opportunities and had faced numerous challenges transitioning into university. At the time of the interview, Bou was pursuing further education as a graduate student in a Master program and was hoping to secure a job in her field and accomplish her long-term goal of permanent residency in Canada.

Participant Profile 2: Bon

From a young age, Bon was certain that attending a university overseas was in her future, though this was not due to her personal aspirations or goals. Bon shared that this was a non-negotiable expectation that was set by her parents, and it applied to everyone in the family, herself and her two siblings. She shared that back home, in Vietnam, culturally it is very important to respect elders and especially parental figures, and the value of education, particularly a "Western" education is the absolute top priority. Bon went through the local education system back home, and upon completion of high school, she had initially wanted to take a break from studying to explore her other interests. After significant pressure from her parents, she did not take a break from studying and attended university immediately after high school. She noted that Australia is a popular destination for many international students from Vietnam, but after attending a university fair, Canada and Simon Fraser University became a possibility.

As Bon further explained:

Canada has always had a good reputation among my parents and their friends. Even if you look at the global news, there is often not too much negativity about Canada.

Ultimately, the deciding factor for choosing a university in Canada rather than one in Australia was the more welcoming government policies (at that time) and the clear pathway and possibility towards remaining in Canada post-graduation, to pursue better career opportunities than those back home. During university, Bon was grateful to have her tuition fully covered by her parents but knew the sacrifices they made to afford the high tuition costs and spent most of her time focused on academics. She enjoyed her university experience overall but felt that she missed out on many opportunities due to not wanting to fall behind academically and disappointing her parents. Post-graduation, Bon secured full-time employment after a very difficult six-month search and expressed her hope of one day fulfilling her dream of permanent residency in Canada.

Participant Profile 3: Bam

Bam left her home in Vietnam to pursue university in Canada and admitted that she had arrived in Canada without any prior knowledge or assumptions of what to expect. Bam was heavily influenced by her parents to pursue a university degree in Canada. She noted that in comparison to other countries, a primary draw was the overall affordability of a university degree in Canada, especially compared to countries such as the United States and United Kingdom. Bam was particularly drawn towards the School of Interactive Arts and Technology (SIAT), which is a specialized program at Simon Fraser University that offers a blend of technologies, artistic and design elements that was not found elsewhere.

As Bam explained:

At the time, I had a specific field that I wanted to study and work in as well. I really wanted to study graphic design and found a specialized program at Simon Fraser University that really aligned with my interests.

Bam's first experience upon arriving in Canada was not what she had expected. Like many international students, it was her first time leaving home and her parents decided to enroll her into a homestay arrangement due to her being too young to enter university. This meant that she would live with a local family during her studies prior to university and her parents believed this was a great way to ensure her safety and better

adapt to the new culture and lifestyle. Bam mentioned that the overall experience was not what she had expected, and even though the family were nice, they had busy lives working and young children of their own to take care of. She began to bond with another international student who was also in a similar arrangement, and they were able to connect on various levels including preferences of food choices that reminded her of home. This relationship she has formed with a fellow international student, only grew and many years later, they have remained close friends and shared a level of connectedness through similar challenges and experiences at university as well. At the time of our interview, Bam had just completed her undergraduate degree two months prior. Postgraduation, Bam hoped to secure full-time employment as pursuing further studies was not possible due to the financial constraints.

The Canadian Dream of Parents

All three participants in my research shared similar sentiments that transitioning to university life in Canada was a lot more challenging than they had expected. As they shared their personal journeys, it was evident how they all shared the dream of remaining in Canada post-graduation to build towards a better future, even though they may not have known what exactly what this future in Canada post-graduation would entail.

Initially, the Canadian dream may not necessarily be shared by my participants, instead, it was their parents who had this dream of a better future in Canada for their children. Bou, for example, noted specifically, "my parents have local degrees, and they have been told a Western degree will lead to increased salary."

Similarly, Bon noted the prevalence of this dream held by her parents as well as her friends' parents:

All my parents' friends also sent their kids to universities all around the world, all are Western countries such as United Kingdom, United States, Australia, and Canada. They all sacrificed so much to afford the international tuition fees because they believe it is better than getting a local degree.

Participant three, Bam also explained how she chose to attend Simon Fraser University in Canada:

It was not really a discussion, as my parents have always planned to send me overseas for a university degree. I went to a university recruiting fair with my dad and compared tuition fees between US and Canadian universities and Canada was significantly more affordable.

Overall, all my participants described very positive perceptions of Canada among their families, friends, and communities.

Bou, for example, stated:

In my country, it is common knowledge that if you obtain a Western degree, there will be better work opportunities and salary as compared to remaining back home. Additionally, it is also known that working overseas in larger countries, such as Canada would mean a better life and future.

Likewise, Bam noted:

Canada was being advertised as a safe, beautiful and stable environment. There also seems to be quite a diverse population that was open to people from all around the world.

The concept of the Canadian Dream started to become more attractive and believable to Bou, Bon, and Bam. With the perceived increased value of a Canadian university degree, more affordable tuition compared to other countries, and overall positive sentiments among their friends and family, it was a clear choice for them. The decision to remain in Canada after graduation seemed like a natural expectation.

As Bon put it:

I was expected to remain in Canada post-graduation, find a job and begin to build a future. After all, this life overseas is seen as "better" than living a life back home, where there is less opportunity for both personal and professional growth.

For Bon and Bam, the idea of going overseas to pursue post-secondary and to become an international student were the dreams of their parents and not their own. Just as Bam's parents took her to attend the international recruitment fair in her hometown,

these institutions from all around the world are heavily invested in increasing international student enrollment. Parents have all become part of this dream, this dream for their children to have the opportunity to build a better life than what they had. For most of my participants, their parents have not been to a university in Canada, yet they are willing to invest such large amounts of money and sacrifice so much for a better education for their children. This places increased pressure and expectations on students to excel while at university and for many, their success directly links to their sense of self and chasing the Canadian dream.

Especially during this transitional period of high school to university, not all international students share the same starting point. For example, participant one (Bou), had an "easier time transitioning" due to having been an international student throughout their life, in the sense of living among different countries, cultures, school systems and diversities. When compared to participant 2 (Bon) and 3 (Bam), this was their first time leaving home and everything they were about to experience was unfamiliar and they had little to no insights from family and friends.

Not Quite the Dream?

During their first year of university, reality quickly set in, for all the participants in my study. International students come from different backgrounds as evident even among my three participants, though there is a mutual bond where they often share similar aspirations, hopes and understanding towards certain goals. Another bond that they have is a mutual understanding of specific challenges that they have faced or experienced.

Discrimination

To discriminate is to treat someone differently, or less favorably for a specific reason that may or may not be explicitly stated. All the participants in my study shared having experienced various forms of discrimination, from those who have more authority/position of power (staff/professors) and those of similar positions (other

students). They also concluded that some situations were a directly related to their status as an international student.

Participant 1, Bou:

I think my experience was way better than other international students because I already went to an international school back home, my accent is quite international and honestly, I could be considered "Western" too. I identify as a racially White individual, so I am often assumed to be a domestic/local student.

For Bou, her transition into university was easier compared to some of her other friends. She mentioned a large part of this was due to having gone through a Western curriculum before attending university, this meant that she was encouraged to participate in a classroom setting and engage in active learning instead of a more passive learning style that a lot of her friends were more used to. The topic of her accent was also discussed as being a significant contributor to her ease of transition. She recounted that in many situations, she was perceived as "almost" sounding like a domestic student, and only those who may be of similar geographic background as her, would be able to identify her pronunciation of certain words, which could be identified as a "foreign sounding" accent. Additionally, most of North America would be happy to assume labels such as "multi-cultural" but a racially White individual may be less likely to be assumed as an international student, according to Bou's personal experiences over the years.

The focus here is not the assumed discrimination that my participants may have experienced, but more importantly, the lack of compassion and understanding for these unique circumstances. There should be a level of understanding and empathy, especially when in a position of power, though it can be recognized that the balance between equality and equity can be difficult to manage.

Participant 1, Bou:

During the pandemic situation, we (international students) were all worried about our families back home, with everyone going on in the world. I don't think many professors or staff here understood the complexity of our situations. Once a bomb went off due to a war back home, it was very close to my family, and I was so nervous to ask my professor for an assignment

extension. I had my friend help write the email, and the professor ended up only giving me an extra 12 hours. I felt terrible afterwards and decided to never ask for another accommodation from professors, as there is a disconnect and/or lack of compassion.

For Bou, she tried so hard to not be seen differently due to her "international student" status and was mostly successful in doing so. Though, during the pandemic, after gathering the courage to request an assignment extension, the response really hurt, and she felt misunderstood and knew there was nothing she could do.

Participant 2, Bon:

I was in the middle of searching for a co-op work position, and then the pandemic happened and there were basically no more jobs available. I mean, there were still jobs available, but they clearly indicated that you had to be a Canadian/Permanent Resident to apply. I could understand the reasoning but also, it was really frustrating for me, because I tried my very best and the chance to secure one of those jobs was basically zero.

For Bon, from her first day of university, it was all about making the very best of her time and looking for opportunities to upgrade herself. She did this by volunteering, joining student clubs and attending numerous professional development workshops.

Participant 3, Bam:

A lot of times, students who aren't quite as good at English yet, they have a hard time communicating with the professor. A lot of professors, sometimes they don't really try, and it must feel bad for students to try and communicate and not have people understand what you mean. I was also quite reserved, personality wise, I'm kind of introverted, so I didn't really participate too much.

Bam recognized that her English was not as fluent as that of a native speaker, and there were times where she would rather not participate to avoid negative feelings like embarrassment. This may have led to her pursuing fewer opportunities while at university.

The Connectedness between International Students

Among all the participants in my study, despite their differences, they all share a mutual understanding, almost like an unspoken rule that they understand certain struggles and challenges only experienced by international students. Through these shared experiences, there is a stronger connection formed between fellow international students, whether it is during a group project or within a student club.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, there were shared challenges among every society and individual, yet there were ones specific to international students.

Participant 1, Bou:

During most of the pandemic, domestic students would go home, and those who remained in residences were all international students, it was very isolating. While everything was going on here in Canada, there was also a lot happening back home and I felt only other international students were able to understand how it was like, to feel so helpless.

This shared understanding among international students, especially through this tough time, can be especially isolating and further contribute to the disconnect between international students and others within the community. While everyone was impacted socially, and had reduced job opportunities, international students particularly felt they were further disadvantaged.

Participant 2, Bon:

Before the pandemic, I had an amazing experience, volunteered a lot and was really involved in many different aspects of university life. I also managed to make a lot of friends. Once the restrictions began, all that came to a stop and it felt like my progress was all being erased.

With the isolation and lack of opportunities, there is an increased sense of urgency to become employable and compete in the job market post-graduation.

Participant 1, Bou:

Global politics/unrest and watching the news that impacts our family. I keep watching not because I enjoy it, but because I must, because it directly

affects me. I feel like the only people who could understand me were my friends (also international students) who also had family all around the world.

Understandably, international students are not the only group of people who have family elsewhere in the world. Domestic students could have experienced these challenges as well. For Bou, it was more so, a combination of various other factors and circumstances that made this one challenge much more difficult. As she noted, the only people remaining in the residences were international students, as all the domestic students at least had some family to go home to (mostly locally).

Participant 2, Bon

When I was back home in my country (Vietnam), I didn't care about the news or politics. I was not afraid of anything, like it didn't affect us. But now I am in Canada, all by myself and I see Canada supports a lot of foreign countries, so I should better understand what is going on in the world.

For Bon, there is a clear association between having to endure the negativity of the news and global unrest to feeling more connected to what is happening back home. This may be part of an assumption that has been developed possibly before coming to Canada and even further reinforced due to the isolation sometimes experienced as an international student in a foreign country.

Participant 2, Bon

We prioritize building friendships because we have no other family here. As international students, we bond over similar challenges and can understand each other.

As individuals in a society, we all have our own support structures. This participant sums up one key difference for most international students, that is, they are away from home and their support structures are different from most students and often they rely on their friends as family. Across all my participants, the sense of community among international students and the bond they share is one that is special and as individuals, we also find comfort in those who are like us and can further strengthen relationships through mutual understanding.

Remaining Optimistic towards the Dream

Among the participants in my study, it is evident that they all had their own versions of the Canadian dream as they began their studies. Throughout their undergraduate journey, there were certainly changes and additions that continued into post-graduation. It is also possible that there are external factors beyond our control that may have impacted the shift in goals, such as, having gone through a global pandemic, and the unpredictability of unrest within the global political landscape.

Parental Expectations During University

While in university, most of my participants shared goals that were academic related, connecting to parental expectations/pressures.

For example, for Bon:

To my parents, getting good grades were always seen as the most important indicator of success and happiness. If I got an average grade (B) for an exam, I would not tell them as I did not want to upset them. I would work hard to get a good grade (A), so that I could tell my parents and make them happy, which would make me happy as well.

In contrast, Bou had a more permissive parental figure, who Bou described as highly supportive and not very demanding, allowing her to decide what she wanted to do at university.

My parents allowed me to study what I wanted and choose to pursue any opportunities based on my preferences. They would just check to make sure I was doing fine and listened to what I wanted to share. Regarding post-graduation, whether to pursue work or further studies, my parents allowed me to decide on which path I wanted to take.

It is certainly possible that there are parental expectations and pressures faced by Bou as well, but perhaps not as easily identifiable as compared to my other participants. There may have been a self-expectation placed on Bou from her parental upbringing that did not need reinforcing during their time at university. According to Bou, her parents were

supportive of any path they would choose post-graduation, whether employment or more school.

Bon highlighted a disconnect between their parental assumptions of the current job market and the reality:

My parents still believe that good grades alone will get you a good job, but I keep trying to tell them that is not the reality today. In my first year, they encouraged me to just study and don't spend any time working.

This caused Bon additional stress during the already difficult transition period from high school to university. She became very discouraged to even learn about the various career related resources available on campus and only began to learn about them towards the end of the second year of university. Bon does wish that she began exploring possible opportunities to build her resume earlier rather than later to increase her chances of employment post-graduation.

Indeed, each participant described various opportunities they pursued while in university, whether it be joining a student club, looking for (co-op) work opportunities, volunteering, teaching themselves a new skill or obtaining online certifications.

For Bon:

Even though I did not pursue co-op or other work opportunities in first year, I chose to volunteer and join student clubs that related to my interests. When I was not able to find work opportunities, I took online courses that gave a certificate to add to my resume.

All participants noted that everything they did was to contribute to the long-term goal of obtaining a Canadian Permanent Residency (PR) status. As post-graduation, even though international students can obtain a post-graduate work permit, which allows them to remain in Canada to work, there is no guarantee of a job. This meant that it was necessary to build their resume while they are in university, or risk not being able to obtain a job post-graduation. Increasingly for many international students in Canada, permanent residency status with the eventual intention of gaining citizenship is a common goal after all the time, effort and financial investment.

As Bou mentions:

My parents did not have many expectations in terms of what opportunities I pursued while at university or what program I studied, though they did expect me to remain in Canada post-graduation and at least work towards obtaining a Permanent Residency (PR) status in Canada and possibly Canadian citizenship in the future.

This shows that even though parental expectations of university life among my participants varies the long-term goal of pursuing work opportunities in Canada post-graduation remains the same.

Post-graduation

Shifting the conversation to post-graduation, I heard a collective sense of uncertainty among all my participants. They all mentioned the mental fatigue of how they could put in their best effort in all that they do, but there would always be circumstances beyond their control. They all noted that throughout their university experience, the attachment placed upon obtaining an undergraduate degree remained intact. With each year, all the struggles are quickly forgotten and just seen as a rite of passage for all international students as they work towards their undergraduate degree and hopefully a better future.

Participant 1, Bou:

Due to the current situation with the limits on study permits and negative spotlight on international students in Canada, there is concern towards my future here. With the current permanent residency (PR) application point system, it is even harder to get the necessary points. It would have been a bigger risk to work immediately post-graduation, so I decided to pursue a graduate program, which will also increase my chances.

Bou was able to pursue further studies after completing her undergraduate, largely due to the support of her parents (especially financially).

Participant 2, Bon:

I have worked so hard to graduate and reach this point, and I honestly felt so discouraged. I was unemployed for almost six months, trying so hard to find a job but I could not find anything. Luckily, I had savings because I really did not want to ask my parents for more money. Before I got my current job, I already began the process of wanting to leave Canada.

For Bon, it was evident that this conversation brought up some difficult emotions, through her change in tone and body language. She had almost given up on her "Canadian Dream" and I could really empathize with how she felt as I had a sense of just how much it takes for any student to complete an undergraduate degree in a foreign country.

Participant 1, Bou:

For now, yes, I do want to find a job in Canada related to my field. Having studied both an undergraduate and graduate program, I don't want all that effort to go to waste. But hearing from my friends about how bad the current job market is in Canada is discouraging, hopefully it will improve by the time I graduate and start looking for a job.

Participant 3, Bam:

My parents didn't want me to go back home because they spent so much money for me to study abroad, and I might as well get a job there (Canada) and give it a try. But also, I am starting to think if I even want to be here in Canada. But I will have to give it a try and see for now.

Even though it was part of their long-term goal to remain in Canada post-graduation, all the participants expressed doubts as to whether it was still worth it. They have all experienced cruel optimism, in their own ways; some have worked so hard to remain optimistic, while others have accepted that the life here in Canada post-graduation may not be suited for them in the long-term. How then has the undergraduate experiences prepared these participants to transition into post-graduation life in Canada? It has certainly allowed them to gain a better understanding of whether they too, share the Canadian dream that their parents initially had for them prior to arriving.

Conclusion

Many international students often arrive with their own version of the Canadian dream, which is often shared by both the student and their family. In both the literature reviewed and, in my findings, there is a clear indication of strong parental influence and motivations that contribute to this decision. The Canadian dream of pursuing postsecondary education in Canada as an important step to building a better future is one that was only made possible through significant changes within government policies. Since the 1970s, there have been numerous international student policy changes that have contributed to the current landscape we are in, for example, the implementation of differential tuition fees between domestic and international students. For international students, the financial strain of affording tuition and other expenses is very much front of mind. The general age of a student graduating high school and applying for university is between 16-18, which would explain how it is common for parental figures to heavily influence decisions. For international students, to be able to afford university abroad is financial support from their parents. Today, international student tuition costs over four times more than tuition for domestic students. This significant financial investment only furthers emphasizes the expectations and pressure placed on international students. The sense of urgency to constantly pursue various opportunities to ensure employability postgraduation whether within or outside of Canada becomes a dominant narrative.

In comparing the current literature and my findings, it is evident that finding a job post-graduation is often a top priority and a difficult endeavour for all graduating undergraduate students. There is discussion around an added layer of difficulty for international students who choose to compete in the job market in Canada post-graduation. Contributing factors such as lack of work experience, temporary resident (non-citizenship/permanent residency) status and a lack of networks/connections. Some employers may also not recognize international experience as an asset and can even be seen as a detriment with assumptions of a lack of cultural awareness in the workplace.

Overall, the perceptions of Canada and pursuing a university degree are largely positive and highly valued. As for the international student experience, there are clear

positive interactions, though it is often the negative experiences that may often have a more lasting impact. All students who experience a negative interaction with the university in any capacity will be less likely to seek out that same resource. Therefore, it is important for those who work within post-secondary institutions to understand the fragility and importance of creating positive interactions for long-term student success. To me, being able to work in a university is very much a privilege, and recognizing how impactful our interactions can be on students as they go through this pivotal once-in-a-lifetime journey is mutually beneficial. As universities continually invest into various resources and hire new teams, it may be beneficial to remind ourselves that we all play an integral part of building a better future.

As a qualitative researcher, I learned the importance of allowing my participants to share their experiences through their own interpretation of the situation. With the globalized society that we live in today, even with all the research on international students in Canada, it is important to acknowledge that the future is constantly changing and there should be an emphasis on continually contributing to the current literature. The first step in tackling discrimination is to better understand the unique situations international students may find themselves in. I hope that this research can serve as a starting point to allow part of that process to happen.

How then do international students reflect on their undergraduate experiences? Throughout the interviews I conducted, the presence of parental expectations and influences shaped participants' stories. For many international students, parental figures will likely always remain as a primary motivator, due to the number of resources and financial requirement needed to attend university as an international student in Canada. During the discussion around goals, participants spoke a lot about the involvement and influence of parents at the beginning of their university journey. Participant one, Bou, noted a shift later in their degree program as her parents allowed her to choose what she wanted to do post-graduation based on the mutual understanding that it was working towards an eventual permanent residency status in Canada. The participants who experienced less parental influence later in their degrees placed more emphasis on building friendships as a support structure. Universities have certainly placed a lot of

emphasis on building a sense of community, but how do we assess the long-term benefits for international students, if most research focuses on current international students?

To be given the label of "international student", that individual can be from anywhere in the world, including from Canada (for example, if they attended and graduated from a local high school but just do not have permanent residency or Canadian citizenship). This further showcase just how many individuals can fall within this category and the difficulty in having a one-size-fit-all solution for this group of students. From the Canadian government perspective, administratively, they are all identical. All international students are given a unique number on all their government documents, placing them in this category that has a long history attached to it. From the university's perspective, administratively, they too, are all identical. They are given a student number, and a clear indication in the system that they are an "international student", and perhaps the largest indicator is the amount of tuition fee they must pay each term.

With the shift in the global landscape, there is a clear indication that international students are increasingly hoping to remain in Canada post-graduation. A larger number of international students are hoping to pursue the Canadian dream and just as universities place a great emphasis on the transition into post-secondary, there should also be an importance placed on the continual preparation for transition into a life in Canada after post-graduation. I hope my research will inspire further efforts into further enhancing the international student experience among post-secondaries in Canada. One such area of importance is for employers to recognize the value in hiring an international student just as the Canadian government has shifted their policies from a focus on short-term benefits to long-term growth. The participants in my research all agreed that the challenges they faced throughout their undergraduate experience has caused them to either adapt or change what it means to achieve their versions of the Canadian dream. In my own case, through numerous adjustments over the years, I do believe that I have achieved my version of the dream. My hope is for continual contribution towards this area of research that will allow many others to live their versions of the Canadian dream and to be better prepared for what the future may hold.

References

- Adams, J. T. (2017). The Epic of America. Taylor and Francis.
- Arthur, N., & Flynn, S. (2011). Career development influences of international students who pursue permanent immigration to Canada. *International Journal for Educational and Vocational Guidance*, 11(3), 221–237. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10775-011-9212-5
- Arthur, N., & Nunes, S. (2013). International students' experiences of integrating into the workforce. *Journal of Employment Counseling*, 50(1), 34–45. https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2161-1920.2013.00023.x
- Arthur, N. M., & Popadiuk, N. E. (2014). Key relationships for international student university-to-work transitions. *Journal of Career Development*, 41(2), 122–140. https://doi.org/10.1177/0894845313481851
- Areepattamannil, S., Brathwaite-Sturgeon, G., Bond, S., Hayle, E., & Malekan, M. (2007). Northern Lights: International Graduates of Canadian Institutions and the National Workforce. *Canadian bureau for international education*.
- Baghoori, D., Roduta Roberts, M., & Chen, S.-P. (2022). Mental health, coping strategies, and social support among international students at a Canadian university. *Journal of American College Health*. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2022.2114803
- Berlant, L. G. (2011). Cruel optimism. Duke University Press.
- https://doi-org.proxy.lib.sfu.ca/10.1215/9780822394716
- Blanchard, S., Martin, C., Smith, C., & Whiteside, B. (2013). International student support services at Ontario universities. *Strategic Enrollment Management Quarterly*, *I*(1), 55–66. https://doi.org/10.1002/sem3.20005
- Brunner, L. R. (2022). Towards a more just Canadian education-migration system: International student mobility in crisis. *Studies in Social Justice*, *16*(1), 78–102. https://doi.org/10.26522/SSJ.V16I1.2685
- Brunner, L. R. (2017). Higher educational institutions as emerging immigrant selection actors: A history of British Columbia's retention of international graduates, 2001-2016. *Policy Reviews in Higher Education*, 1(1), 22-41. https://doi.org/10.1080/23322969.2016.1243016
- Brophy, T., Carter-Rogers., Norris, M. E., & Smith, S. M. (2022). Students starting university: Exploring factors that promote success for first-year international and domestic students. *Frontiers in Education*. https://doi.org/10.3389/feduc.2022.779756

- Burns, K. K., Calder, M. J., Danko, M., Mao, Y., Mogale, R. S., Richter, S. (2016). International students attending Canadian universities: Their experiences with housing, finances, and other issues. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education (1975)*, 46(2), 92–110. https://doi.org/10.47678/cjhe.v46i2.184585
- Bustamante, R., Martirosyan, N. M., & Saxon, D. P. (2019). Academic and social support services for international students. *Journal of International Students*, *9*(1), 172–191. https://doi.org/10.32674/jis.v9i1.275
- Bui, H., Rahimi, M., Tran, L. T., & Tan, G. (2022). Post-graduation work visas and loopholes: Insights into support provision for international graduates from the perspectives of migration agents, universities, and international graduates. *Evaluation Review*, 46(4), 438–464. https://doi.org/10.1177/0193841X221098211
- Canada: New international education strategy focuses on diversification and outbound mobility. (2019, August 28). ICEF Monitor. https://monitor.icef.com/2019/08/canada-new-international-education-strategy-focuses-on-diversification-and-outbound-mobility/
- Chase, M., & Guo, S. (2011). Internationalisation of higher education: Integrating international students into Canadian academic environment. *Teaching in Higher Education*, *16*(3), 305–318. https://doi.org/10.1080/13562517.2010.546524
- Chirkov, V. I., de Guzman, J., Playford, K., & Safdar, S. (2008). Further examining the role motivation to study abroad plays in the adaptation of international students in Canada. *International Journal of Intercultural Relations*, 32(5), 427–440. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijintrel.2007.12.001
- Creswell, J. D. & Creswell, J. W. (2018). Research design (5th ed.). SAGE Publications.
- Crossman, E., Hou, F., Lu, Y. (2022). International students as a source of labour supply: Engagement in the labour market after graduation. *Economic and Social Reports, Statistics Canada*. https://doi.org/10.25318/36280001
- Da Silva, T., & Ravindran, A. (2016). Contributors to academic failure in postsecondary education: A review and a Canadian context. *International Journal of Noncommunicable Diseases*, *I*(1), 9–17. https://doi.org/10.4103/2468-8827.184854
- Di Paolantonio, M. (2016). The cruel optimism of education and education's implication with 'passing-on.' *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, 50(2), 147-159. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9752.12197
- Dixon, C., Franquiz, M., & Green, J. (1997). The myth of the objective transcript: Transcribing as a situated Act. *TESOL Quarterly*, 31(1), 172-176. https://doi.org/10.2307/3587984
- El Masri, A., Scott, C., Safdar, S., & Trilokekar, R. D. (2015). International students as 'Ideal Immigrants' in Canada: A disconnect between policy makers' assumptions and the lived experiences of international students. *Comparative and International Education*.

- Frohard-Dourlent, H., Kenyon, K., & Roth, W. D. (2012). Falling between the cracks: Ambiguities of international student status in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 42(1), 1-24.
- Grayson, J. P. (2008). The experiences and outcomes of domestic and international students at four Canadian universities. *Higher Education Research and Development*, 27(3), 215–230. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360802183788
- Grayson, J. P. (2008). Sense of coherence and academic achievement of domestic and international students. *Higher Education*, *56*(4), 473–492.
 - https://doi.org/10.1007/s10734-007-9106-0
- Guo, S., & Guo, Y. (2017). Internationalization of Canadian higher education: Discrepancies between policies and international student experiences. *Studies in Higher Education*, 42(5), 851–868. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2017.1293874
- Immigration, R. a. C. C. (2024, January 24). Canada to stabilize growth and decrease number of new international student permits issued to approximately 360,000 for 2024. *Government of Canada*. https://www.canada.ca/en/immigration-refugees-citizenship/news/2024/01/canada-to-stabilize-growth-and-decrease-number-of-new-international-student-permits-issued-to-approximately-360000-for-2024.html
- Jordan, R. (1982, January 22). Educate the rich? *The Peak*. https://newspaper.lib.sfu.ca/peak-141/peak
- Jones, S., Line, M., Robertson, M., & Thomas, S. (2000). International students, learning environments and perceptions: A case study using the Delphi technique. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 19(1), 89-102.
- Laberge, Y. (2013). The American dream: A cultural history. *Journal of American Culture*, *36*(4), 397–398. https://doi.org/10.1111/jacc.12088
- Maodzwa Taruvinga, M., Moosa, R., & Ndofirepi, E. S., Reed, M. (2019). Insights gained from a comparison of South African and Canadian first-generation students: The impact of resilience and resourcefulness on higher education success. *Compare*, 49(6), 964–982. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057925.2018.1479185
- McMahon, B. J., & Zyngier, D. (2009). Student engagement: Contested concepts in two continents. *Research in Comparative and International Education*, 4(2), 164–181. https://doi.org/10.2304/rcie.2009.4.2.164
- McCartney, D. M. (2021). "A question of self-interest": A brief history of 50 years of international student policy in Canada. *Canadian Journal of Higher Education*, 51(3), 33-50. https://doi.org/10.47678/cjhe.vi0.189179

- McCredie, K. (2007). Undergraduate student retention at Simon Fraser University: A 2005/2006 case study.
- Merriam-Webster. (n.d). Dream. *Merriam-Webster.com dictionary*. Retrieved August 15, 2024. https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/dream
- Simon Fraser University (SFU). (2024, April). SFU Facts & Figures, Communicators Toolkit. https://www.sfu.ca/communicators-toolkit/brand/facts-figures.html
- Simon Fraser University (SFU). (n.d.). *Undergraduate Tuition*. https://www.sfu.ca/students/calendar/2024/fall/fees-and-regulations/tuition-fees/undergraduate.html
- Stein, S. (2018). National exceptionalism in the 'EduCanada' brand: Unpacking the ethics of internationalization marketing in Canada. *Discourse*, *39*(3), 461–477. https://doi.org/10.1080/01596306.2016.1276884
- Wisenthal, M. (1999). Historical statistics of Canada, section W: Education (No. 1983001; Historical Statistics of Canada). Statistics Canada. https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/en/pub/11-516-x/pd-f/5220023-eng.pdf?st=YIxn3oK1
- Weiss, R. S. (1994). Learning from strangers: The art and method of qualitative interview studies. NY: The Free Press

Appendix A. Recruitment Participant Email

Recruitment Participant Email

CELL	SIMON	FRASER	UNIVERSITY
310	ENGAGING	THE WORLD	

SUBJECT LINE: Invitation to Participate in an SFU MEd Research Study

Dear (),

This email is an official invitation for you to participate in my research project for my Master of Education (MEd), Educational Leadership program at Simon Fraser University (SFU).

My research goal is to better understand how an undergraduate degree from SFU prepares their international student graduates for what is next post-graduation. By participating in this study, you will be making an immensely valuable contribution to the existing literature and research on the international student experience while at SFU as well as post-graduation, which will hopefully benefit both current and future students as well as administrators of the university to best support international student success.

The time commitment will consist of one session of a 1-hour interview that will be conducted online via Zoom. There will be open-ended interview questions which will form a general structure and will cover three sections/areas: general questions about the participant, specific questions about your time during university and specific questions about your time after graduating.

43

As a thank you for your time, you will be compensated with a \$30 Starbucks Gift card for contributing valuable data to this research.

Please note that you are not obligated to participate, all data gathered will be kept confidential and your anonymity will be guaranteed. My graduate supervisor is Dr. Rebecca Cox, Associate Professor, Faculty of Education (SFU).

If you are interested in participating in this study, please reply to this email (___) confirming your interest and additional information about the study as well as a consent form will be provided. Please note that you can are able to ask additional questions and/or seek clarification at any point during this entire process.

(___)

Current role: International Student Advisor, University of British Columbia (UBC)

Previous role: Recruiter/Advisor, Simon Fraser University (SFU)

Appendix B. Interview Questions

Interview Questions

The questions will loosely follow three sections, each with their own goals to better guide the flow of the interview as well as the analysis of data once it has been collected.

- A) General questions to build an overall perspective of participant.
- B) Specific questions relating to experiences during university.
- C) Specific questions relating to experiences after university.

A) General questions

- a) Tell me How you came to be an international student at SFU What are some factors you considered?
- b) How would you describe your overall university experience at Simon Fraser University, especially as an international student?
- c) What were your main reasons for pursuing an undergraduate degree at SFU? Did they change throughout your time at SFU and after graduating?
- d) What were your short-term and long-term goals when you began studying at SFU?
- e) Do you feel that your undergraduate degree has prepared you well in terms of career/work/future study opportunities?

B) During university

- a. What are some services/staff you accessed and what was your overall experience with them?
- b. What career-related activities (volunteer, paid, indirect skills) were you engaged in?
- c. If you could change 1-2 university services to further enhance your university experience, what would they be and why?
- d. If you could restart your university life, what would you do differently?

C) After university

- a. Please provide a brief overview of your life post-graduation, beginning with whether you pursued further studies (e.g. graduate, professional certification/courses) or full-time employment.
- b. What factors helped influence your decision on what to do after graduating?
- c. What are your current short and long-term goals?